THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

DEC 17 2014

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Case No.: 2014-001197

Brenda Oswald.....Appellant,

v.

Oswald Law Firm, Employer
and

Norguard Insurance Co., Carrier.....Respondents.

**INITIAL BRIEF
OF APPELLANT**

Frank A. Barton, Esquire
ATTORNEY AT LAW, P.A.
Post Office Box 3972
West Columbia, South Carolina 29170
803-739-1824 / fax 803-739-1888

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the South Carolina Workers' Compensation err in concluding the claim of the Claimant-Appellant was barred by the "going and coming rule"?

STATEMENT OF CASE

By her Form 50 of December 30, 2012, Claimant-Appellant sought disability benefits and medical treatment for injuries to her neck, back, and arms suffered in an automobile accident which occurred on September 27, 2010. On September 27, 2010, Appellant was involved in an automobile accident when her automobile was struck in the rear by another vehicle. Appellant sought workers' compensation benefits as she was carrying out duties for her employer at the time of the accident. The Employer and Carrier-Respondents denied Appellant was entitled to benefits alleging she was simply driving to work and her claim was barred by the "going and coming" rule.

A hearing was held before the Hearing Commission on March 21, 2013. By Decision issued on July 9, 2013, the Commissioner ruled Appellant's claim was barred by the "going and coming" rule. Pursuant to Appellant's Form 30 of July 22, 2013, a hearing before the Appellate Panel was held on November 19, 2013. By Decision issued on May 6, 2014, the Appellate Panel affirmed the decision of the Hearing Commissioner. Thereafter, Notice of Appeal was filed with the South Carolina Court of Appeals on June 4, 2014.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This claim arose out of an automobile accident in which the Appellant's motor vehicle was rear ended on September 27, 2010. At that time Appellant was working as the office manager for the Oswald Law Firm, LLC. Her husband Billy R. Oswald, was the owner and president of the Employer company. (Transcript, page 7, line 11-15). As part of her normal duties, Appellant would necessarily run errands for the law firm, and among other things would be responsible for picking up payroll checks from the law firm's accountant, and making bank deposits. (Transcript, page 8, line 1-11).

According to the testimony of Mr. Oswald on the morning of September 27, 2010, Appellant left home and proceeded to pick up payroll checks from the office of the law firm accountant, and then was to make bank deposits for the law firm. (Transcript, page 8, line 15-page 9, line 15). According to the testimony of Mr. Oswald, the owner and president of the Employer, the Appellant left the house, actually picked up the checks from the accountant, and was involved in the motor vehicle accident as she was on the way to make deposits at the Law Firm's bank. (Transcript, page 9, line 16-page 10, line 3). Mr. Oswald, the president and owner of the law firm, further made it clear the Appellant was performing duties for the law firm at the time of the accident stating, "There's absolutely no question that she was doing what she was supposed to be doing as part of the law firm." (Transcript, page 11, line 7-12). Mr. Oswald advised Appellant to immediately proceed to the emergency room. (Transcript, page 11, line 13-19).

The Appellant also testified she left home on the morning of September 27, 2010, to pick up payroll checks from the accountant and then to proceed to make some bank deposits. The accident happened after she had stopped by the accountant's office and as

she was on her way to the bank. (Transcript, page 29, line 13-19). These were part of her normal duties as office manager for the Oswald Law Firm. (Transcript, page 30, line 2-15). Appellant further testified just prior to the motor vehicle accident, she was using a cell phone provided by the Law Firm to speak with an insurance agent in regard to insurance coverage for the building used by the Law Firm. This conversation took place on a cell phone provided by the Law Firm and concerned insurance coverage for the law firm. (Transcript, page 31, line 2-page 32, line 7; Employer's APA submission, page 180).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act governs judicial review of a decision of the workers’ compensation commission.” Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 134, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1982); Bass v. Isochem, 365 S.C. 454, 467, 617 S.E.2d 369, (Ct. App. 2005) cert. dismissed as improvidently granted Aug. 2007; Hargrove v. Titan Textile Co., 360 S.C. 276, 288, 599 S.E.2d 604, 610 (Ct. App. 2004). Pursuant to the APA, an appellate Court’s review is limited to deciding whether the Appellate Panel’s decision is unsupported by substantial evidence or is controlled by some error of law. Grant v. Grant Textiles, 372 S.C. 196, 200, 641 S.E.2d 869, 871 (2007); S.C. Code Ann. Section 1-23-380(A)(5) (Supp. 2006).

The judicial review of the Appellate Panel’s factual findings is governed by the substantial evidence standard. Gadson v. Mikasa Corp., 368 S.C. 214, 221, 628 S.E.2d 262, 266 (Ct. App. 2006); Frame v. Resort Servs., Inc., 357 S.C. 520, 527, 593 S.E.2d 491, 494 (Ct. App. 2004); Corbin v. Kohler Co., 351 S.C. 613, 617, 571 S.E.2d 92, 94-95 (Ct. App. 2002); Lockridge v. Santens of America, Inc., 344 S.C. 511, 515, 544 S.E.2d 842, 844 (Ct. App. 2001). The Appellate Panel’s decision must be affirmed if supported by substantial evidence in the record. Shuler v. Gregory Elec., 366 S.C. 435, 440, 622 S.E.2d 569, 571 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing Sharpe v. Case Produce, Inc., 366 S.C. 154, 160, 519 S.E.2d 102, 105 (1999)). A reviewing court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. S.C. Code Ann. Section 1-23-380(A)(5)(d)(e)(Supp. 2006), see, also, Hall v. United Rentals, Inc., 371 S.C. 69, 77, 636 S.E.2d 876, 881, (Ct. App. 2006). However, a reviewing court may reverse or modify a decision of the Appellate Panel if the findings, inferences,

conclusions, or decisions of them are “clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record.” S.C. Code Ann. Section 1-23-380(A)(5)(e)(Supp. 2006); Bass v. Kenco Group, 366 S.C. 450, 457, 622 S.E.2d 577, 580 (Ct. App. 2005); Burse v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Envtl. Control, 360 S.C. 135, 141, 600 S.E.2d 80, 84 (Ct. App. 2004) aff’d, 369 S.C. 176, 631 S.E.2d 899 (2006).

ARGUMENT I

THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERRED IN CONCLUDING APPELLANT'S CLAIM WAS BARRED BY THE "GOING AND COMING RULE". (ISSUE 1)

The Workers' Compensation Commission concluded Appellant's claim was barred by the "going and coming" rule. Generally, an employee who was simply going to the place of employment or coming home from the place of employment is not on the job. Therefore, an injury sustained by accident at those times is not compensable. Whitworth v. Window-World, Inc., 377 S.C. 637, 661 S.E.2d 333 (2008); Gallman v. Springs Mills, 201 S.C. 257, 22 S.E.2d 715 (1942). Appellant respectfully submits the Commission erred in concluding her claim was barred under this rule.

The going and coming rule provides an accident to an employee while he is simply going or coming from his place of employment is not covered by workers' compensation because the employee is not performing any work related duties during those times. There are, however, numerous exceptions to the general rule. Medlin v. Upstate Plaster Service, 329 S.C. 92, 495 S.E.2d 447 (1998).

An employee's accident going to or coming from work falls within an exception to the going and coming rule if the employee is charged with the performance of some task in the furtherance of the employer's business while traveling to or from work. Shuler v. Gregory Elec., (Ct. App. 2005); Greg v. Dorchester County School System, 270 S.C. 189, 241 S.E.2d 554 (1978). Appellant respectfully submits the Commission erred in failing to determine her accident fell within this exception to the going and the coming rule.

In ruling Appellant's claim was barred by the going and coming rule, the Commission simply concluded Appellant was on her way to work at the time of the accident and therefore her claim was barred. The Commission ignored, however, overwhelming evidence the Appellant was charged with performing duties related to her employment at the time of the accident. Significantly, the Employer admitted Appellant was performing duties related to her job and was in fact on the job at the time of her accident.

Appellant and her Employer both testified Claimant left her house with two specific work related duties. She was to stop by the law firm accountant's office to pick up payroll checks, and she was further charged with making deposits to the law firm bank account. Both of these errands were to be performed on her way to work and both locations were on her travel path to work.

As the office manager for the law firm, the errands mentioned above were specifically within her job duties. Furthermore, immediately prior to the accident the Appellant was conducting law firm business by discussing insurance coverage for the law firm by cell phone while in the car.

Although some evidence was presented to call into question whether or not Appellant actually stopped at the office of the accountant, there is no evidence controverting the testimony of Claimant she was on the cell phone in regard to insurance coverage for the law firm or that she was also charged with making bank deposits which would have been done just down the road from where the accident occurred. The controlling person for the Oswald Law Firm confirmed she in fact picked up the payroll

checks and that she was also going to make bank deposits for the law firm at a bank which was on the route she was traveling at the time of the accident.


There is no showing Appellant made any deviation from the route required to stop by the accountant's office and subsequently the bank to make deposits. There was no proof of any personal deviation from her necessary route of travel to accomplish those errands. The owner and president of the Oswald Law Firm, LLC, testified she in fact picked up the payroll checks from the accountant's office and was performing her duties as law office manager at the time of the accident. Furthermore, Appellant was conducting law firm business by cell phone immediately prior to the accident. For all of the above reasons the decision of the Appellate Panel of the Workers' Compensation Commission should be reversed, with a ruling the Appellant is entitled to workers' compensation benefits as a result of the motor vehicle accident. The case should be remanded to the Commission for determination of disability payments and medical benefits Appellant is entitled to as a result of the accident.

CONCLUSION

The testimony and evidence presented at the hearing before the Hearing Commissioner clearly showed the Appellant was performing duties within the course and scope of her employment at the time of her motor vehicle accident. The Commission erred in concluding her claim was barred by the going and coming rule. The decision of the Appellate Panel should be reversed with a determination the Appellant's accident is covered by the Workers' Compensation law. The case should be remanded for a hearing to determine what disability payments and medical benefits she is entitled to as a result of the motor vehicle accident of September 27, 2010.