THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

RECEIVED

APR 28 2015

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA  
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

---

Case No.: 2014-001197

---

Brenda Oswald,  
Employee.....Appellant.

v.

Oswald Law Firm, Employer,  
and Norguard Insurance Company, Carrier.....Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENTS**

---

Peter P. Leventis  
McKay, Cauthen, Settana & Stublely, P.A.  
1301 Blanding Street  
Columbia, South Carolina 29201  
(803) 256-4645  
Attorney for Respondents

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA  
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

---

Case No.: 2014-001197

---

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL**

**I. DID THE CLAIMANT/APPELLANT SUFFER A COMPENSABLE WORKERS' COMPENSATION INJURY BY ACCIDENT UNDER S.C. CODE ANN. §42-1-160?**

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The Claimant/Appellant Brenda Oswald was involved in a motor vehicle accident on September 27, 2010 on a stretch of highway 378, when her car was hit from behind by another vehicle. At the time of the automobile accident, the Appellant alleges she was in the course and scope of her employment for her husband's business, the Oswald Law Firm. According to the Appellant, who was the office manager for the Oswald Law Firm, she was driving in between two banks, and had just walked into one of the banks to pick up checks, gotten back in her car, and was on her way, in her car, to another bank to deliver the checks for deposit for the Oswald Law Firm.

The trial Commissioner found, among other things, that the Claimant/Appellant was not a credible witness, and did not believe the Claimant's allegations of where she alleged she was travelling to and from at the time of the motor vehicle accident (R. at pp. 23-24). The trial Commissioner ultimately ruled that the Claimant/Appellant was not in the course and scope of her employment at the time of the accident, because the Commissioner did not believe her travel was related to work, nor related to the alleged duties the Claimant testified to at the hearing. The single Commissioner alternatively held that even if the circumstances of the Claimant's travel were "partially accurate" as alleged, the claim would still be barred under the "going and coming" exclusion to the Workers' Compensation Act because according to the evidence the Claimant would have been traveling from a personal location (her home) to an employment location (her work) and no exception to this exclusion from the Workers' Compensation Act

would apply. (R. pp. 12-13). These rulings by the single Commissioner was affirmed in full by the Appellate Panel of the full Commission in its Order dated May 6, 2014. (R. p. 14).

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act governs judicial review of decisions by the Workers' Compensation Commission. *Bass v. Isochem*, 365 S.C. 454, 467, 617 S.E.2d 369, 376 (Ct. App. 2005). An appellate court's review is limited the determination of whether or not the decision of the Appellate Panel of the Workers' Compensation Commission was supported by substantial evidence or is controlled by some error of law. *Grant v. Grant Textiles*, 372 S.C. 196, 200, 641 S.E.2d 869, 871 (2007); S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380(A)(5) (Supp. 2006).

The judicial review of the Workers' Compensation Commission's appellate panel's factual findings is governed by the substantial evidence standard. *Gadson v. Mikasa Corp.*, 368 S.C. 214, 221, 628 S.E.2d 262, 266 (Ct. App. 2006). The appellate panel's decision must be affirmed if supported by substantial evidence in the record. *Shuler v. Gregory Elec.*, 366 S.C. 435, 440, 622 S.E.2d 569, 571 (Ct. App. 2005) (internal citations omitted). A reviewing court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the Commission as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380(A)(5) (Supp. 2006).

However, a reviewing court may reverse or modify a decision of the appellate panel if the findings of the panel are, "clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record." S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380(A)(5)(e) (Supp. 2006); (*Houston v. Deloach & Deloach*, 378 S.C. 543, 550; 663 S.E.2d 85, 88) (S.C. Ct. App. 2008)). See also *Grant v. Grant Textiles*, 361 S.C. 188, 191, 603 S.E.2d 858, 859 (Ct. App. 2004) (noting that a reviewing court will not overturn a decision by the Workers' Compensation Commission unless the determination is unsupported by substantial evidence or is affected by an error of law)

(reversed on other grounds (*Grant v. Grant Textiles*, 372 S.C. 196, 200, 641 S.E.2d 869, 871 (2007))).

### ARGUMENT

The Claimant/Appellant essentially makes two points as to why this case should be deemed a compensable workers' compensation injury, and that the Claimant was in the course and scope of her employment at the time of the motor vehicle accident. This first point is the Claimant was in the course and scope of her employment, and therefore the car accident was a work related event, because she was on the cell phone talking business with an insurance agent of the law firm at the moment the accident occurred. The second argument, is that the Claimant was indeed traveling between two banks at the time of her accident – one from which she had just stopped at, walked into, and picked up checks for the law firm – and the second to which she was driving to deliver and deposit those checks at the time her accident took place.

The Claimant's first argument, that she was on the cell phone essentially "talking business" at the time of the accident, and therefore, she is entitled to a finding that the car accident took place during the course and scope of her employment, is indeed a novel one. Nevertheless, this argument is abandon on appeal as this point was not raised and briefed to the full Commission panel of the S.C. Workers' Compensation Commission. (See Gen. the Appellate Brief of Brenda Oswald to the SCWCC Appellate Panel – which does not raise, reference or argue the point that the Claimant was in the course and scope of her employment due to the fact that she was on the telephone with an insurance agent at the time of her car accident. R. pp. 30-33).

South Carolina law clearly states that short, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not presented for review. *See Fields v. Melrose Ltd. Partnership*, 312 S.C. 102, 106, 439 S.E.2d 283, 285 (Ct.App.1993) ("An issue raised on appeal but not argued in the brief is

deemed abandoned and will not be considered by the appellate court."). In *Brown v. Theos*, 338 S.C. 305, 309 n. 2, 526 S.E.2d 232, 235 n. 2 (Ct.App.1999), *aff'd*, 345 S.C. 626, 550 S.E.2d 304 (2001), we held that a one sentence paragraph raised in an appellant's brief was insufficient to preserve the issue for appeal: "Brown states in a one sentence paragraph that he had raised an action for 'intentionally negligent and malicious conduct' .... We note Brown's argument is so conclusory that it may be deemed abandoned." (citation omitted). *Glasscock Inc. v. U.S. Fidelity and Guaranty Co.* 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, \_\_ (Ct. App. 2001).

Therefore, the Defendants/Respondents contend this particular issue has been abandoned on appeal. The Claimant/Appellant Oswald not only failed to cite any authority to back up this proposition, but also did not even raise nor argue this particular issue in her appellate brief to the full Commission Panel for consideration. Moreover, the fact that the Claimant may have been on the cell phone at a place outside of her work, *even if* on a work-related call, would not, in and of itself, make any particular danger of a person's current circumstance (while on the phone), somehow peculiar to her employment relationship with her employer under S.C. Code Ann. §42-1-160.

Even if not abandoned on appeal, Defendants/Respondents would simply contend that by virtue of picking up a cell phone and making a work-related call, an employee cannot turn an otherwise potentially dangerous, non-work related situation – e.g. driving a car, flying in a plane, taking medications with harmful side effects, swimming, skiing, skydiving, hunting, roof cleaning, taking illegal drugs, et cetera – into a work situation for the purposes of receiving workers' compensation benefits. Lastly, it should be noted that the Claimant was found not to be credible in her testimony before the hearing Commissioner. (R. pp. 23-24). Lacking an abuse of discretion, the single Commissioner's findings on credibility, which were affirmed by the Appellate Panel, should be affirmed on further appeal. Moreover, the Claimant never challenged

or appealed the finding of the single Commissioner, and later the full Commission Panel's affirmation, that she was indeed not credible in her testimony at trial.

The Claimant's second point is that she was indeed traveling between two points of work at the time of her accident. The hearing Commissioner weighed the evidence on this point, and found that the greater weight of the evidence showed that the Claimant was not actually traveling for work when she was allegedly injured in the accident. More to the point, there is clearly substantial evidence in the record to support these findings. Under the applicable standard of review, this alone would mandate an affirmation of the Workers' Compensation Commission's findings of fact as to the Claimant's course of travel at the time she was injured. The going and coming rule exclusion, which is a legal determination, was a secondary alternative finding made by the single Commissioner, assuming *arguedo* that the Claimant's story about her travel was accurate. As noted above, the hearing Commissioner, as affirmed by the Appellate, found the Claimant not to be credible, and this finding has never been challenged on appeal.

The Claimant alleges that at the time of her accident on Sept. 27, 2010 she left from her home in her personal vehicle, then to Burkett, Burkett & Burkett, (Burkett), accountant's for the Oswald Law Firm. Notably, she alleges, she *actually stopped and got out of the vehicle to go inside*. Mrs. Oswald testified that she then left Burkett, and was on her way to another bank, BB&T. (R. p. 287, R. p. 312 lines 1-12). According to the Claimant, it was during her travel between Burkett and BB&T she was involved in an auto accident when she was rear-ended by another vehicle. This vehicle which rear-ended Mr. Oswald on September 27, 2010 was driven by Mr. Franklin Riggins.

Mr. Riggins, who lives at 2225 Raven Trail Court in West Columbia, SC. Mr. Riggins lives *less than a quarter of a mile* Brenda Oswald, who lives at 2124 Raven Trail, West

Columbia, SC. (See Riggins Depo. Trans. (R. p. 242 at line 13), and Trial Exb. 19 of the Defendants (R. p. 147-155)). According to the sworn deposition testimony of Mr. Riggins , Mr. Oswald was actually travelling directly from her own neighborhood, to whatever final destination she had planned, at the time of her accident. Mr. Riggins testified as follows:

Q: (By Attorney Barton) Immediately after the accident, did Mrs. Oswald tell you where she was coming from?

A: No, sir. I mean, I knew where she was coming from because I had followed her out of the neighborhood.

I mean, I was – She had – When she went by the house, I backed out, and I pulled out right behind her, and so, --

(Riggins Depo. at p. 18, lines 19-25)

Q: (By Attorney Leventis) You had followed her out of your neighborhood that morning?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: And when I say that morning, I mean just prior to the wreck, just –

A: Just prior to the accident, yes.

Q: So you actually followed her onto 378?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: And when you say she passed you right before you backed out of your driveway, was that on Raven Trail her car –

A: Yes, sir.

Q: -- passed you?

A: Yes, sir.

(Riggins Depo. (R. p.256 line 23 – p. 257, line 11).

This is in direct contravention to Mrs. Oswald's testimony that she was traveling from Burkett to BB&T. Moreover, in further contradiction of the Claimant's testimony (that she was traveling from Burkett to BB&T as opposed to leaving her home). As Mr. Riggins followed Mrs. Oswald onto 378 out of their neighborhood, and ultimately crashed into the back of her, it would have been impossible for the Claimant/Appellant to have left her house, physically stopped at Burkett and gotten out of her car to pick up checks, and still have been run into by Mr. Riggins on 378. The hearing Commissioner weighed this testimony, along with other considerations and found the Claimant's version of events not be credible.

Of note, the Claimant also previously testified that she had not had significant or ongoing problems with her neck from a prior 2008 car accident – or even injured her neck in that accident. (R. p. 300 lines 13-18). However, the Claimant clearly had significant ongoing issues with her neck according to a letter she wrote to treatment providers in May of 2009 about how very significantly the ongoing neck pain from the 2008 accident had affected her and impaired her ability to work, exercise and other aspects of her daily life, back at that time. (See Defendants' APA's at p. 119 (R. p. 92)).

The Claimant, on page 23 of her deposition stated that she has not worked for the Oswald Law Firm since her September 27, 2010 accident (R. p. 178 lines 14-20). Nevertheless, she has continually been paid her salary by the firm from Sept. of 2010 up to the March 2013 hearing. According to her husband Billy Oswald's testimony at the hearing, Owner of the Oswald Law

Firm, these last 30 months of payments are based upon “accrued sick leave” that the Claimant had built up. (R. p. 285, lines 11-14). However, the Claimant was also apparently laid off from the Oswald Law Firm, and received unemployment for 6 months between December of 2009 and up to June of 2010, just a couple of months prior to this accident. (R. p. 281, line 22 – p. 24, line 15) came back to the firm at double her previous annual salary.

Also, in regards to the Claimant’s testimony at her deposition that she had not worked at the law firm since her September 27, 2010, a March 2011 report – six months after the date of accident - references the fact that the Claimant is “back at work as office manager for her husband’s law practice but under stress over her husband’s illness.” (See Defendants APA’s at p. 96). (Also see Defendants APA No. 108, dated April 23, 2012, two years after the accident, stating under “Occupation” that the Claimant is a “Real estate manager” and “Office manager for her husband’s law firm,” listing status as “active,” for the answers).

The hearing Commissioner’s finding that the Claimant was not credible in her testimony was supported by the greater weight of the evidence in the record, and certainly by substantial evidence. In the first instance, the Commissioner found the Claimant was not credible, and not traveling for work at the time she was injured, and that the Claimant did not carry her burden of proof in showing that her accident fell within the Workers’ Compensation Act as a compensable injury.

These findings were not argued in the Claimant’s appellate brief to the full Commission, therefore the challenging of such findings is abandon on appeal. *See Fields v. Melrose Ltd. Partnership*, 312 S.C. 102, 106, 439 S.E.2d 283, 285 (Ct.App.1993) (“An issue raised on appeal but not argued in the brief is deemed abandoned and will not be considered by the appellate court.”). Therefore, on this ground alone, the full Commission’s Order should be affirmed, as

the Claimant's appellate briefs to the full Commission panel, only argued the issues related to the "coming and going" rule exclusion – not whether the travel was simply not related to work at all, as found by the trial Commissioner, and affirmed by the Appellate Panel. In the first instance, the single Commissioner did not find the travel compensable because she believed the direct testimony of the other driver, over that of the Claimant, and therefore was un-persuaded by the Claimant's own version of events that she was even traveling between banks in her capacity as office manager.

On these points it is worth citing the Commission's Order(s) at some length:

9. That Claimant's sworn testimony at the hearing was not credible due in part to the reasons stated above, and outlined conflicting evidence from her testimony; as well as evidence in the record; the undersigned's own observations of the witness, and specifically in light of the fact that her testimony as to the facts of the accident (such as where she was coming from at the time of the accident) were in direct conflict with a disinterested non-party to the workers' compensation claim, Mr. Franklin Riggins. (See Generally, the Deposition Testimony of Franklin Riggins *vis a vis* the sworn deposition and trial testimony of Mrs. Brenda Oswald) (Hearing Trans. at p. 29; Riggins Trans. at p. 18 lines 19-25; and p. 19, line 23 – p. 20, line 11).

Namely, that Mrs. Oswald testified both in her deposition, and at trial that she was in the midst of going from an accountant's office to a bank at the time of the accident, yet Mr. Riggins, who lives approximately 0.2 miles from the Claimant, stated that he followed Mrs. Oswald out of the neighborhood that morning, and immediately preceding the motor vehicle accident in which he was the other involved driver.

10. I do not believe the Claimant's version events as to where she was traveling to and from, and her alleged purpose for such travels at the time of the accident which gave rise to her injuries. (See Also, Defendants' APA's at p 102, a July 26, 2011 report for treatment of the Sept. 27, 2010 date of accident checking "no" as to whether or not this "the patient's pain or condition arise as the result of a work related injury or accident.").

11. The Claimant has the burden of providing by the greater weight of the evidence that the claim is compensable and falls within the Act. No exhibits

from the Claimant were provided in the record as to the alleged transaction(s) which took place on September 27, 2010 at Burkett or SCB&T which would corroborate her version of the events or her alleged actions on that date related to her employment activities at either location. The Claimant has not met her burden of proof under the Act in proving by the greater weight of the evidence that her travel was work related and arose out of or in the course of her employment with the Oswald Law Firm.

Roche Order, Findings of Fact No's 9-11 (R. pp. 23-24).

Note, that the single Commissioner (as fully affirmed by the Appellate Panel of the Commission) specifically found under Conclusion of Law No. "10" that: "[u]nder § 42-1-160, [Mrs. Oswald] has not met her burden of proof in showing that she sustained a compensable injury arising out of or in the course and scope of her employment with the Oswald Law Firm." (R. pp. 26, 14). Again, the single Commissioner did not simply find that this accident was barred under the "going and coming" rule, but as a threshold matter that the Claimant failed to prove by the greater weight of the evidence that the accident took place under the circumstances she alleged they did. Underpinning that finding was, that, "[i]n the first instance, [the Commissioner] found the Claimant not to be credible [], and consequently finds the entire trip to be outside the course and scope of employment, as I do not believe her testimony in relation to where she was traveling to and from and why, or that it was work related travel." (See Roche Order Conclusion of Law No. "12" (R. p. 27)). Again, the Claimant does not argue on appeal that the credibility finding was in error.

This credibility finding by the trial Commissioner, as fully affirmed by all three members of the appellate pane, was prefaced, in part, upon the contradictory evidence of an eye witness (and party to the accident), Mr. Frank Riggins, who followed the Claimant out of her own neighborhood that morning before he ultimately wrecked into the back of her on Highway 378 after travelling very briefly out of the neighborhood.

## CONCLUSION

These Respondents contend that the Appellate Panel of the Workers' Compensation Commissions and conclusion are supported by substantial evidence in the record, and binding legal precedent or statutes. Moreover, certain legal and factual findings of the single Commissioner and Appellate Panel, which would necessarily need to be overturned in order to make a finding of compensability in this case, namely credibility, to prove that the circumstances of the accident itself fell within the Act have been abandoned on appeal as they were not raised and argued by the Claimant's/Appellant's Appellate Brief to the full Commission nor to the Court of Appeals.

These findings, in addition to the finding that such travel would have further been excluded from the Act under the "going and coming" rule, would all have to have been overturned for this claim to be found compensable. Lastly, the Defendants other legal arguments, as to: *laches*, aggravation of a pre-existing injury; ongoing wage payments; and continued work by the Claimant since the date of accident, are all viable affirmative or mitigating defenses still available to the Employer/Carrier in this claim. For the forgoing reasons, the factual findings, and legal conclusion of the full Commission Order should be affirmed in full by the Court.